0/a 10-7-87

Orig

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT E. BONDURANT, M.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 70,090

**THE HONORABLE NICKOLAS P.
GEEKER, Circuit Judge for
the First Judicial Circuit
in and for Escambia County,
Florida,**

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
NO. BQ-212

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

**ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF
DECISION OF FIRST DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA**

DANNY L. KEPNER, of
SHELL, FLEMING, DAVIS & MENGE
Seventh Floor Seville Tower
Post Office Box 1831
Pensacola, Florida 32598
(904) 434-2411
ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

As a preliminary matter, an appendix accompanied petitioner's brief on jurisdiction. References to that appendix, which contains all pertinent pleadings and orders from the courts below, shall be made herein and indicated by the symbol "A", followed first by a designation of the item number of the pleading or order as shown on the tabs of the appendix (A-1 through A-15), and, in some instances, the page number as well (pp. 1 through 55).

Plaintiff in the trial court is Carolyn B. Streeter, as Personal Representative of the Estate of Eric Byron Streeter, deceased. Petitioner, Robert E. Bondurant, M.D., is one of the defendants in this action, and respondent, Nickolas P. Geeker, is the presiding Judge in the trial court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stand in the trial court, by name, or, in some instances, as they stand in this Court.

This action was filed in the Circuit Court for Escambia County, Florida on October 8, 1984, seeking money damages against Baptist Hospital for the death of plaintiff's decedent based on alleged medical malpractice (A-1). In her First Amended Complaint, filed in April of 1985, plaintiff added an additional defendant to the lawsuit (A-2). In her Second Amended Complaint, filed in March of 1986, plaintiff added petitioner, Robert E. Bondurant, M.D., as a defendant in this action (A-3).

Petitioner moved to dismiss the action based on plaintiff's failure to abide by the dictates of Fla. Stat. Section 768.57, requiring a 90-day pre-suit screening period before suit is filed (A-4). Plaintiff served the requisite notice of intent to initiate litigation on the petitioner, but filed the medical malpractice action against him only two days later (A-5, A-3). After the expiration of the 90-day screening period, and after the running of the two year statute of limitation, petitioner filed an amended motion to dismiss, seeking to have the action dismissed both on the grounds of the previous motion and based on the running of the limitation period (A-6). Hearing on the amended motion was set for October 2, 1986 (A-7).

The trial court, Nickolas P. Geeker, Judge, denied the amended motion to dismiss (A-8). Upon letter request for reconsideration based on a new case from the Third District Court of Appeal, the trial court again declined to dismiss the action against petitioner (A-9,10). Petitioner timely petitioned the First District Court of Appeal for a writ of prohibition (A-11); this petition was denied (A-12), as was petitioner's timely motion for rehearing (A-13, 14, 15). The final order denying rehearing was entered by the First District Court of Appeal on January 23, 1987 (A-15). Petition for discretionary review was then filed by petitioner in this Court, and jurisdiction was accepted on May 13, 1987.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The pertinent facts of this case are simply stated. Plaintiff's decedent, Eric Byron Streeter died on March 13, 1984 (A-1, p.2), and plaintiff's cause of action for wrongful death accrued on that date (A-10). On March 10, 1986, plaintiff served on petitioner, by certified mail, a notice of intent to initiate litigation for medical malpractice in connection with decedent's death, pursuant to Fla. Stat. 768.57(2) (A-5). On March 12, 1986, plaintiff filed her second amended complaint, naming petitioner as a defendant in this action for the first time (A-3). At no time thereafter did plaintiff file or re-file any additional complaint against petitioner.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner, a defendant in a medical malpractice action, moved to have the complaint against him dismissed based on the plaintiff's failure to comply with the requirements of the Comprehensive Medical Malpractice Reform Act and the subsequent expiration of the statute of limitation. The trial court denied the motion, and petitioner petitioned for a writ of prohibition to the First District Court of Appeal. The First District declined to speak to the merits of the petition, instead choosing to deny the writ on procedural

grounds, finding that prohibition is not an appropriate remedy in this situation.

In so ruling, the First District created a conflict between the decision below and the following decisions of other district courts of appeal: Public Health Trust v. Knuck, 495 So.2d 834 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Lynn v. Miller, 498 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); and Hellinger v. Fike, 503 So.2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

The trial court lacked jurisdiction over the subject matter because of plaintiff's failure to follow the statutory requirements which are conditions precedent to filing suit. She did not wait 90 days, but only 2 days before filing suit. The statute is analogous to the waiver of sovereign immunity statute, Fla. Stat. 768.28(6), and her complaint against petitioner was null and of no effect. Plaintiff's claim is barred by the statute of limitations because she did not re-file any additional complaint after the 90-day period had expired and before the limitation period was up.

The District Court should have granted either prohibition or certiorari, which were requested in the alternative, to halt the proceedings in the trial court because of its lack of jurisdiction. Finally, Section 768.57 does comply with constitutional requirements for application to claims which accrued before the effective date of the statute. Since the

statute is valid, the District Court erred in not issuing either of the writs sought by petitioner.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT LACKED JURISDICTION OVER THE SUBJECT MATTER

In 1985, the Florida Legislature enacted the Comprehensive Medical Malpractice Reform Act, Ch. 85-175, Section 55, Laws of Florida. By its terms, Section 768.57, part of the Act, is applicable to all causes of action with respect to which suit had not been filed prior to October 1, 1985. Fla. Stat. Section 768.57(10). Here, plaintiff had not filed suit as to her cause of action against Dr. Bondurant prior to October 1, 1985 (A-3,4), although she had sued the hospital in 1984 (A-1) and had added Dr. Tugwell as a defendant in April, 1985 (A-1).

The new Act requires that a notice of intent to initiate litigation be served on each prospective defendant, prior to filing suit. Fla. Stat. Section 768.57(2). Subsection 3(a) makes it crystal clear that a claimant must then wait: "No suit may be filed for a period of 90 days after notice is served on the prospective defendant... ." This allows the prospective defendant an opportunity to review the claim, and if the defendant or his insurer does not admit or deny liability within that 90 days, the claim is deemed

denied [Subsection 3(b)]. At that point, of course, plaintiff may proceed with a suit.

Subsection (4) of 768.57 provides for a tolling of the statute of limitations (assuming the notice of intent is timely filed) during the 90-day screening period.

Applying these provisions to the case at hand, it appears without dispute that plaintiff failed to comply with the new Act. The notice of intent was served on March 10 (A-5), and instead of waiting 90 days, plaintiff waited two days before filing the second amended complaint (A-3,4). The law specifically prohibited the filing of the complaint at the time it was filed, so defendant moved for dismissal of the premature pleading (A-4).

The District Court misunderstood petitioner's position on this point right from the start. The second sentence of the opinion declares:

"Petitioner moved to dismiss the complaint on the ground that the statute of limitations period had expired." Bondurant v. Geeker, 499 So.2d 909 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986) (A-12).

But petitioner's original motion to dismiss (A-4), which was incorporated into the amended motion to dismiss (A-6), was grounded on plaintiff's filing of an unauthorized, premature lawsuit, as discussed above.

The statute of limitation defense was raised later, and while petitioner intends to address that issue in this brief, the important point here is that the First District ignored petitioner's first and foremost line of defense:

The trial court had no jurisdiction to entertain or consider plaintiff's complaint because it was filed in direct contravention of the specific terms of the statute. Plaintiff had ignored the 90-day "pre-suit screening period" specified by Section 768.57, and the complaint should have been dismissed as a result. Note, too, that at no time after March 12, 1986, did plaintiff file any new complaint against petitioner.

The District Court never addressed this line of defense, concluding instead that petitioner was merely trying, by the petition for prohibition, to take an unpermitted interlocutory appeal. Had that court applied the same careful scrutiny to petitioner's original motion to dismiss as it purported to apply to the petition for prohibition, it would have been apparent that what was involved here was much more than a simple affirmative defense. The question presented was, and is, this: Did Judge Geeker have the jurisdiction to allow plaintiff's complaint to stand, thus forcing Dr. Bondurant to defend this lawsuit?

This Court has dealt with essentially this same problem in the context of claims brought against the State and its subdivisions under Fla. Stat. §768.28(6), the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity. That statute contains language similar to Section 768.57, in that a notice of the claim must be served on certain designated persons and the claimant must then wait to file suit until the claim has been denied or a specified time period has expired. In the landmark

case of Commercial Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979), this Court held that compliance with the notice provision is a condition precedent to maintaining a suit, and that a complaint brought against the sovereign must allege such compliance. The complaints of the plaintiffs there failed to allege whether the notice requirements had been complied with, and so this Court ruled that the complaints should have been dismissed with leave to amend to allege compliance.

Early in this proceeding, Judge Geeker recognized that the notice requirements in this law are analogous to those contained in 768.28(6). See his order dated October 9, 1986 (A-8). Applying the principle set out by this Court in Commercial Carrier, this complaint should have been dismissed. It not only failed to allege compliance with the notice requirement, but there was also affirmative proof, in the form of petitioner's sworn motion, that plaintiff had not complied (A-4,5).

This Court has upheld restraints on filing suit imposed by contract. See, Homestead Fire Insurance Co. v. Andion Co., 164 So. 187 (Fla. 1935), which enforced an insurance policy's "no suit" clause prohibiting the filing of suit until 30 days from the service of proof of claim forms. By agreement between the parties, the courts had no jurisdiction to act. In similar fashion, Judge Geeker had no jurisdiction over the instant case.

It is certainly arguable that a dismissal with leave to amend here would not mean much, in light of later events which will be covered shortly. But the trial court, and the appellate court as well, should have recognized this complaint as unauthorized and therefore invalid to bestow jurisdiction on the court. Judge Geeker did declare in his order of November 4, 1986, that, under Fla. Stat. §768.57, the Second Amended Complaint naming Bondurant as a party defendant for the first time was a nullity (A-10, p. 28). This is a correct statement of the law, but, of course, he went on to deny the motion to dismiss on constitutional grounds. The constitutional issue will be addressed later.

The key point to be made here is that, if Section 768.47 is constitutionally valid, the complaint should have been dismissed. The First District should have recognized this fact and should have addressed the constitutionality of the Act, before deciding whether to issue the writ of prohibition we requested. Such a writ is the precise remedy for defendant under these circumstances. See point III below.

II. THE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM IS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

For plaintiff here, the timing of the events in question have turned out to be fatal to her case. While the Commercial Carrier decision would have entitled her to a dismissal without prejudice and with leave to amend, later events precluded that.

The statutory scheme of the 90-day pre-suit screening period of Section 768.57 requires the service of a notice of intent to initiate litigation on the prospective defendant. The claimant must then wait 90 days for defendant and his insurer to investigate the claim, before suit can be filed. Applying those provisions to the case at hand, it appears without dispute that plaintiff failed to file a valid suit under the new Act before the two-year statute of limitation, Fla. Stat. Section 95.11(4)(b), had expired.

The notice of intent was served on March 10 (A-5), and instead of waiting 90 days, plaintiff waited only 2 days before filing the Second Amended Complaint (A-3, pp. 6-8). Both of these events took place before the two-year limitation period had expired, Eric Streeter's death having occurred on March 13, 1984 (A-1, p.2). The serving of the notice of intent caused the limitation period to be tolled for 90 days; however, the filing of the Second Amended Complaint had no effect at all on the limitation period. This is because it was not an authorized pleading, as discussed above.

The 90-day screening period, which began on March 10, 1986, expired on June 8, 1986. At that point, the tolling of the limitation period came to an end, and the clock began to run again. Only 3 days remained, and the limitation period then expired for good on June 11, 1986. No additional complaint was filed against Dr. Bondurant, though, after the unauthorized Second Amended Complaint of March 12.

The hearing on petitioner's amended motion to dismiss was held before Judge Geeker on October 2, 1986, the first date available (A-10, pp. 26-27); and he denied the motion on October 9 (A-8). By the time of the hearing, of course, the statute of limitation had expired, and it was impossible for plaintiff to amend alleging compliance with the statute in a timely manner. This was exactly the same situation which was presented to this Court, in a sovereign immunity context, in Levine v. Dade County School Board, 442 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1983). Plaintiff there filed suit under Section 768.28(6), but had to admit that he had not served a notice of his claim to the Florida Department of Insurance, as required by the statute. Rejecting plaintiff's argument and proof that the Department of Insurance had no interest in, or concern about the claim, this Court held that dismissal was correct because the time for serving notice on the Department (three years from the date of the incident) had expired:

"Where the time for such notice has expired so that it is apparent that the plaintiff cannot fulfill the requirement, the trial court has no alternative but to dismiss the complaint with prejudice." Id., 442 So.2d at 213.

The Court cited with approval the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in Dukanauskas v. Metropolitan Dade County, 378 So.2d 74 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), where summary final judgment was affirmed because plaintiff had failed to serve the notice of claim required by the statute.

The similarity between these expressions of legislative intent should not be ignored. When the Act under scrutiny here was adopted, it must be presumed that the Legislature intended to impose the same stringent necessity to comply with the pre-suit notice and waiting period as was specified in the sovereign immunity statute and this Court's construction of it.

This was exactly the conclusion drawn by the Third District in Public Health Trust v. Knuck, 495 So.2d 834 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986), and by the Second District in Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) and Lynn v. Miller, 498 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). Judge Geeker certainly accepted that analysis of the statute, but concluded that its application to plaintiff violated the Constitution (A-10).

In the Public Health Trust case, plaintiff filed suit, but did not serve any notice of intent to initiate litigation beforehand. Defendants moved to dismiss and before the hearing, the two-year limitation period expired. At the hearing, plaintiff asked the trial court to "abate" the proceedings while she complied with the notice requirement. The trial judge granted this motion, but upon defendants' petition, the Third District granted a writ of prohibition to prohibit revival of the action as to the private defendants.

The Third District Court pointed out that the new Act offers protection to plaintiffs for whom the limitations

period would expire during the 90-day "presuit screening period": i.e., the statute of limitations is tolled during that time. In order to toll the statute of limitations, however, plaintiff must adhere to the mandate of Section 768.57(2) and timely serve the notice of intent to initiate litigation. One who does not follow the dictates of Section 768.57, the Court concluded, does not receive the benefit of tolling the limitation period. Because the limitation period expired before plaintiff even attempted to satisfy the notice requirements of the Act, the court held that the action was barred as to the private defendants.

There is a distinction between the Public Health Trust case and the instant action. Here, plaintiff did serve a notice of intent before the statute of limitations expired (A-5). However, this distinction does not compel a different result. Mrs. Streeter received the benefit of the tolling of the limitation statute during the next 90 days, until June 8, 1986. But, she did nothing thereafter. The clock started running again, and she did not file anything. She lost her chance to do so, even before the hearing on October 2. She is in essentially the same position as the plaintiff in Public Health Trust.

But plaintiff will argue that the filing of the second amended complaint should serve to toll the statute of limitations, since it was filed before the end of the two years. However, that complaint must be treated just

as the Third District treated the complaint in Public Health Trust. It was unauthorized under the Act because it was filed 88 days too early. The statute says literally, that no suit is authorized until 90 days from service of the notice of intent; the second amended complaint was filed only two days after such service. The second amended complaint is therefore a nullity because it "did not comply with the statute, and thus did not toll the statute of limitations." Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Knuck, supra, 495 So.2d at 837.

The Second District case of Lynn v. Miller, supra, arrived at essentially the same result, on apparently identical facts, the court there declaring:

"If the limitations period has expired the trial court lacks the authority to abate a premature complaint, even if, but for the prefiling notice requirements, that complaint would otherwise have been timely." Lynn v. Miller, 498 So.2d 1011, 1012 (Fla 2d DCA 1986).

And, although not involving a limitation issue, the case of Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585,587 (Fla 2d DCA 1986), concludes that a prefiling notice, under Section 768.57, is distinguished from, and must be served as a condition precedent to filing, a complaint in a medical malpractice lawsuit.

Judge Geeker's order of November 4, expresses our position perfectly on the application of the statute to plaintiff's case. The complaint "is a nullity and ... the time has expired for the plaintiff to file another amended

complaint or a new complaint against the defendant, Bondurant... ." (A-28).

There really is no other conclusion one can draw. If the second amended complaint is deemed valid to toll the statute of limitations, then the entire presuit screening procedure set out in Section 768.57 is rendered totally meaningless, its purpose completely thwarted. A claimant could simply file suit, then serve the notice (or vice-versa), and so long as both are done within the limitation period, he could just wait for 90 days before actively pursuing the lawsuit. No 90-day presuit period would be available to defendant -- instead he would have to answer a public lawsuit immediately. The opportunity for defendant to review the claim and explore "possible settlement short of litigation" (A-19) would simply cease to exist. Judge Geeker recognized this problem, as did the Third District, in Public Health Trust and the Second District in Lynn v. Miller. The First District refused to even consider the merits of our position. This action is time barred and should have been dismissed.

It is important to note in the instant case that, early on -- in April, 1986 -- plaintiff was put on notice that the second amended complaint was invalid and prohibited by the clear terms of the new statute, which were quoted verbatim in the motion (A-9,10). She had ample time then to follow the statutory scheme, to wait out the 90 days, and even then to refile the second amended complaint (including

a new allegation that Section 768.57 had been complied with) or a new complaint in a new lawsuit. She chose not to do this, deciding instead to try to amend the statute to omit the 90-day screening period by filing the second amended complaint. This Court should hold her to that decision, erroneous though it turned out to be.

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