O/a 10-7-87

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED
SID J. [unclear]

ROBERT E. BONDURANT, M.D.,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 70,090

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

JUN 29 1987 C

Deputy Clerk

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL
NO. BQ-212

THE HONORABLE NICKOLAS P.
GEEKER, Circuit Judge for
the First Judicial Circuit
in and for Escambia County,
Florida,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF
DECISION OF FIRST DISTRICT COURT
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

M. ROBERT BLANCHARD
RICHARD P. WARFIELD, of
LEVIN, WARFIELD, MIDDLEBROOKS,
MABIE, THOMAS, MAYES AND
MITCHELL, P.A.
226 South Palafox Place
Post Office Box 12308
Pensacola, Florida 32581
(904) 435-7000

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent adopts the statement of the case as set forth in petitioner's brief on the merits. Respondent would add only that Bondurant chose to challenge and litigate the sufficiency of the plaintiff's pre-suit notice. (A-6).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Prohibition. The District Court below properly ruled that prohibition was an inappropriate remedy under English v. McCrary, 348 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1977), although certiorari might have been an appropriate remedy, as in Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585, 587 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The trial court had jurisdiction of the parties and the subject matter, see English, 348 So.2d at 297, and could properly rule on the applicability and operation of Florida Statute 768.57 in the instant case. Any refusal to grant certiorari was a matter within the discretion of the District Court and should be upheld.

Interpretation. Florida Statute 768.57 (1985) should not be interpreted as applying retroactively to the instant plaintiff's claim. Subsection (10) of the statute dictates that the section "shall apply to any cause of action with respect to which suit has not been filed prior to October 1, 1985." Plaintiff had her cause of action prior to that date and suit had been filed "with respect to" that cause of action on October 8, 1984. (A-1). The statute is at least ambiguous in this regard and, therefore, as a matter of statutory construction, the act should not be retroactively applied to

plaintiff's claim in the absence of clear and unambiguous language that it should apply. Heberle v. P.R.O. Liquidating Co., 186 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966); Hellinger v. Fike, 503 So.2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986).

Constitutionality. If Florida Statute 768.57 is interpreted as applying retroactively to the instant cause of action, its operation is unconstitutional. This court held in McCord v. Smith, 43 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1950), that retrospective statutes are constitutionally defective if vested rights are adversely affected or destroyed, if a new obligation or duty is imposed, or an additional disability is established. Although plaintiff complied with the presuit notice requirement of the statute within the limitations period, she was then confronted with a dilemma: should suit be filed within two years or should she assume that the 90-day tolling under 768.57(4) would apply? The ambiguity of Section 768.57(10), as above mentioned, left plaintiff uncertain as to whether she would be entitled to the 90-day tolling of the limitations period provided by the statute. Plaintiff could not be reasonably expected to wait 90 days after filing the notice in a case where the tolling provision might ultimately be found inapplicable and the statute of limitations expired.

Dismissal. Given the untenable position plaintiff was confronted with by the statute, the trial court should have abated plaintiff's action for 90 days, which would have given Bondurant the benefits provided by the statute, without destroying plaintiff's cause of action. This case is clearly distinguishable from the cases relied upon by Bondurant, in that the pre-suit notice was served within the applicable time limitation. See Public Health Trust v. Knuck, 495 So.2d 834 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Lynn v. Miller, 498 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Levine v. Dade County School Board, 442 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1983); Dukanauskas v. Metropolitan Dade County, 378 So.2d 74 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). Therefore, abatement or dismissal without prejudice would have been appropriate and just. See Lee v. South Broward Hospital District, 473 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985).

If dismissal of Bondurant from the Second Amended Complaint is found to be warranted by this court, plaintiff should be allowed to amend the complaint to allege compliance with the 90-day waiting requirement. See Commerical Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979); McMahan Construction Company, Inc. v. Carroll's Child Care Center, Inc., 460 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984). The

limitations period for filing suit should be considered tolled for the period of time from the filing of the amended complaint until the time of dismissal, because plaintiff originally filed within the statute of limitations and the pendency of these proceedings has been necessary to determine the applicability of the new malpractice statute. Since Bondurant sought in the court below to attack the sufficiency of the pre-suit notice (A-6), it is entirely unreasonable to suggest that plaintiff should have refiled yet another complaint against Bondurant during the pendency of the defendant's motion to dismiss. The motion was to determine not only the applicability of Section 768.57, but also the adequacy of the pre-suit notice itself. If dismissal is required, 90 days should be set aside for compliance with 768.57 and the statute of limitation should be tolled throughout this proceeding and the 90 days, since the pre-suit notice has been found valid (A-8).

ARGUMENT

Preface

While the position contended by petitioner Bondurant makes for tidy argument, the dictates of its logic can only be followed at the expense of justice. Faced with the prospect that the 90 additional days provided for filing of a lawsuit under 768.57(4) (1985) might not be available in the instant case, plaintiff took a reasonable course of action and filed suit within two years from the date the cause of action accrued. Bondurant would like to capitalize on of plaintiff's dilemma and seek to defeat her claim entirely. It was certainly not the desire of the legislature to destroy the claims of innocent plaintiffs through the requirements imposed by the statute. Plaintiff served notice and filed suit within the limitations period and then simply waited for the first available hearing date (A-10) on defendant's motions to dismiss. Bondurant wishes to take ultimate advantage of the unavoidable delay by declaring plaintiff's filing a nullity.

I. Prohibition Improper.

This court held in Engligh v. McCrary, 348 So.2d 293 (Fla. 1977) that prohibition is an extraordinary writ by which a lower court is prevented from acting beyond its jurisdiction. The writ of prohibition is employed with great

caution and utilized only in emergencies to forestall impending present injury, where the person seeking the writ has no other appropriate and adequate legal remedy. The purpose of prohibition is to prevent the doing of something, and cannot be used to revoke an order already entered. Id.

The trial court had clear jurisdiction over the parties and subject matter below. English v. McCrary, 348 So.2d at 297. Both pre-suit notice and the suit itself were filed within the two-year limitations period. The trial court properly addressed the issues of the sufficiency of the plaintiff's pre-suit notice and the applicability of Florida Statute §768.57 (1985) to the instant case. (A-8, A-10). Bondurant sought to undo the orders of the trial court by seeking writ of prohibition. The District Court below rightly declined to enter the writ, although it might have entertained a writ of certiorari in line with Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

Bondurant's petition for rehearing in the District Court suggested that certiorari should have been considered although the original petition requested prohibition. (A-13). However, the District Court's refusal to entertain certiorari on the initial petition and upon the motion for

rehearing was certainly within its discretion. See South Atlantic S.S. Company v. Tutson, 139 Fla. 405, 190 So. 675 (1939). See also 3 Fla.Jur. 2d. App. Rev. §458. Non-final orders, such as the one below are generally not subject to certiorari, unless the order fails to conform to the essential requirements of law and unless proceeding without immediate review would cause material injury throughout the subsequent proceedings. Chalfont Development Corp. v. Beaudoin, 370 So.2d 58 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979).

The trial court order finding the 90-day waiting period inapplicable to the instant case did not depart from the requirements of law. Prohibition was improper and certiorari was unnecessary, the District Court should be upheld without addressing issues outside of the District Court's decision. See Sanchez v. Wimpey, 409 So.2d 20 (Fla. 1982).

II. Florida Statute 768.57 Should Not Be Interpreted To Apply Retroactively In This Case.

Uncertainty confronted plaintiff in attempting to comply with the requirements of the new malpractice statute. The act attempts to apply retroactively to "any cause of

action with respect to which suit has not been filed prior to October 1, 1985." Fla. Stat. §768.57(10) (1985). Plaintiff's "suit" had been filed prior to that time but the particular "claim", if you will, against Dr. Bondurant had not yet been included in that suit. The same death and essentially the same sequence of events which led to the claims against the other defendants also gave rise to the claim against Dr. Bondurant. Plaintiff's cause of action for wrongful death existed prior to October 1, 1985 and suit was filed "with respect to" this cause of action. There was certainly reason to question whether, under the ambiguous language of this subsection, the statute would apply so that plaintiff would have benefit of the 90-day tolling of the statute of limitations. Fla. Stat. §768.57(4).

This uncertainty was compounded by the dictate of Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.190(c), which provides for the relation back of amended pleadings. Although it was clear that the amended complaint would not relate back for the purpose of statute of limitations on Bondurant, Garrido v. Markus, Winter & Spitale Law Firm, 358 So.2d 577 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978), it was not so clear whether a relation back of amended pleadings would apply for the purpose of rendering the new

malpractice act inapplicable. The statute does not clarify whether the relation back of amended pleadings has any affect on a "cause of action with respect to which suit has not been filed prior to October 1, 1985." Plaintiff could not be certain that the court would apply prior law to the other defendants in the case and the new law to the claim against Bondurant, when the entire action arose out of a single death.

It is a general rule of statutory construction that all statutes are intended to be prospective in application. If the legislature intends retroactive application, it must do so in clear, unambiguous language. Heberle v. P.R.O. Liquidating Co., 186 So.2d 280 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). See also Hellinger v. Fike, 503 So.2d 905 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986). Nowhere should this rule of statutory construction be more stringently applied than in a case where a plaintiff's vested right to bring suit can be completely undermined by statutory action. The issues of this case may be first addressed as a matter of statutory construction and the constitutionality of the statute need not even be questioned. The statute simply does not address cases filed prior to October 1, 1985 wherein amended pleadings add parties subsequent to that date. Consequently, the statute should not be interpreted as applying retroactively to plaintiff's cause of action.

III. If Retroactively Applied In This Case, Florida Statute 768.57 Is Unconstitutional.

Plaintiff had a vested right to bring suit against petitioner Bondurant prior to the enactment of the 1985 Malpractice Act. With the statute's pre-suit notice requirements, the act certainly imposes additional burdens and disabilities on plaintiff's vested right. Indeed, Bondurant's hypertechnical arguments would have the statute destroy the plaintiff's claim altogether.

Retroactive legislation is usually invalid if it impairs a vested right. Talmadge v. District School Board of Lake County, 406 So.2d 1127, 1128 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). The right to bring suit is a vested right. See Department of Transportation v. Knowles, 402 So.2d 155 (Fla. 1981). Retroactive legislation is invalid where vested rights are adversely affected or destroyed, or where a new duty or obligation is created or imposed, or an additional disability is established. McCord v. Smith, 43 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1949). The pre-suit notice requirements of the act impose a new obligation, a condition precedent, to bringing suit and do not affect merely matters of procedure as contended by Bondurant.

The legislature attempted to alleviate the disability imposed by the pre-suit filing requirements by providing a 90-day tolling of the statute of limitations upon filing the notice of claim. Fla. Stat. 768.57(4). However, while the act may, on its face, meet constitutional muster, it has failed to do so in practical application. See Aldana v. Holub, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla. 1980). At least two trial courts have found it appropriate to declare the statute unconstitutional in some aspect; the trial court below and the trial court in Lynn v. Miller, 498 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986) and Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986).

The statutory ambiguity which confronted the instant plaintiff could have been easily avoided if the statute had been written to apply to causes of actions which accrued on or after a particular date. It is generally clear when a cause of action accrues and there is extensive caselaw to assist the determination of that issue. However, the legislature chose to make these additional burdens on the plaintiff applicable to "causes of actions with respect to which suit has not been filed prior to October 1, 1985" and in doing so has unconstitutionally impaired the instant plaintiff's vested right to bring suit.

IV. The Appropriate Remedy For The Petitioner
Bondurant In The Trial Court Was Abatement
Or Dismissal Without Prejudice.

In cases similar, but not identical, to the instant case, abatement has been found inappropriate where the plaintiff cannot cure the defect in the original complaint because the time has lapsed for filing of a presuit notice of claim. See Public Health Trust v. Knuck, 495 So.2d 834 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); Pearlstein v. Malunney, 500 So.2d 585 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Lynn v. Miller, 498 So.2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); Levine v. Dade County School Board, 442 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1983); Dukauskas v. Metropolitan Dade County, 378 So.2d 74 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). In the instant case however, notice of claim had been served on Bondurant within the applicable limitations. Therefore, plaintiff could, if the new act was found applicable, have filed the amended complaint in compliance with the notice and waiting requirements, such as was allowed in Commerical Carrier Corp. v. Indian River County, 371 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 1979).

This case is not unlike Lee v. South Broward Hospital District, 473 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). In that case, the plaintiff filed suit prior to serving required notice on the Hospital District pursuant to Florida Statute 768.28. The

notice was filed after the complaint, but within the three-year limitations period. The trial court dismissed with prejudice the amended complaint. The District Court reversed, however, in line with Commerical Carrier, and distinguished Levine v. Dade County School Board, 422 So.2d 210 (Fla. 1983) on the same basis here contended by plaintiff, to-wit: pre-suit notice was timely filed. See also State of Florida v. Alvarez, 11 FLW 1496 (July 8, 1986, 3d DCA); Askew v. County of Volusia, 450 So.2d 233 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Similarly, in McMahan Construction Company, Inc. v. Carroll's Child Care Center, Inc., 460 So.2d 1001 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984), the applicable lien statute required that a contractor's affidavit must be served more than five days before filing of a complaint, but the affidavit had not been filed at all before the original complaint. The contractor's affidavit was subsequently filed and an amended complaint was allowed to be filed five days thereafter to comply with the lien statute. There is no reason why, in the interest of justice, a similar procedure should not be applicable in the instant case.